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1. Name of Property

historic name Isett, Jacob, House and Store

other names/site number Arch Spring Farm

2. Location

street & number State Route 1013, .3 mile South of intersection with 117 aot for publication
city or fown ___State Route 1015, Tyrone Township ' w0 viinity

state _ Pennsylvania code _ A county Blair code 013 _ zip code 16686

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby cectify that this XX nomination
(3 request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meels the procedural and prolessional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Pant 60. In my opinton, the property
3 meets [ does no ot the National Aegister criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

(3 dhationalty Dla & tocally. (D See continuation sheel for additional comments.)
: rent Glass, Exec. Dir 2/18797

. Signature of certifying officialfTitle Date

pA Historical and Museum Commission
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property O meets EJ does not mee! the National Register criteria. {0 see continuation sheet for additional

comments.)

Signature of cerlifying official/Title . Date

Slate or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
1 hareby certily that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Aclion

O entered in the National Register.
(O see continuation sheet.
(5 determined eligible for the
Natignal Register
{7 see continuation sheat.
[ determined not efigible for tha
Mational Register.
{1 removed from the National .
Register.

[} other, {explain:)
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Name of Property l

5. Classification

County and ﬁ

Ownership of Property Category of Property

_ (Check as many boxes as apply) (Check enly one box)
K3 private K building(s)
{1 public-local [ district
3 public-State O site

[ structure

O public-Federal
' [ object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
{Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing .

8 buildings

1 sites
structures
objects

9 . Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single dwelling

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single dwellino

Commerce/department store Commerce/hotel
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

{Enter categories from instructions)

" Georgian’

Narrative Description

{Enter categories from instructions)

foundation _Stone

walls Limestone
roof Shake
other

{Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

K A Property is associated with events that have made

a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history. ‘

C1 B- Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Xl ¢ Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

(1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

1 A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

(0B removed frorq its original location.

[J € a birthplace or grave.

[0 D a cemetery.

J E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
(] £ a commemorative property.

[0 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

{Explain the signiticance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

‘Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture

Exploration/Settlement

Period of Significance
1799--1870

Significant Dates
1799 — Store

ca. 1870 — Cutbuildings

Significant Person ..
{Complete if Criterion B is marked above}

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Unknown

9. Major Bibliographical References 4

Bibilography

(Cite the bocks, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one of more continuation sheets))

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

(] preliminary determination of individuat listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

(] previously listed in the National Register

O previously determined eligible by the National
Register -

[l designated a National Historic Landmark

U recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#

{3 recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:
[0 State Historic Preservation Office

[ Other State agency
[0 Federal agency
(1 Local government
J University

- [ Other

Name of repository:
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property __8

UTM References

{Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.}

411,7] 1713,613,0,0] [4,4]19,813,9,9] 311,7] 1713,6]3,6,0) |4,419:8]3,7.,0

Zone Easting Northing o Zone Easting Northing
o 1,7] [713,613,2,0] [4,419,8]4,0,0] 4 |1,7] 1713.613.5.0] &419,8]3,6,0

] see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
{Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

Nancy I,. Smith; Margaret J. Goodman

nameftitie

organiéati;)n date  December 10, 1996
street & number 1512 Princeton Rd. telephone _814-946-8607

city or town Altoona state PA zip code 160602

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage Or NUMerous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
{Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional iterns)

Property Owner
{Complete this item at the request of SHPQ or FPQ.)

name

street & number telephone

city or town state zZip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applicalions to the National Register of Historic Ptaces to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for fisting, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the Nationai Historic Preservation Act, as amended {16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.). ’

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reperting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time far reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and complieting and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127, and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503,
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The ]acob Isett house (1805) and store (1799) are situated near the northeast
end of Sinking Valley in Tyrone Township, Blair County. “Contributing resources
include the limestone house, store, and summer kitchen from the late eighteenth
and early nineteenth centuries; five ca. 1870 wood frame buildings; and various
archeological remains counted collectively as one contributing site. There are no
noncontributing resources within the proposed nomination boundaries. (Photo 1)
The stone buildings are constructed of semi-coursed limestone with wall thickness
measuring two feet. The seven bay, two-and-one-half story house is a vernacular
Georgian style architecture common to central Pennsylvania. The utilitarian,
one-story summer kitchen is connected to the house at the left rear. The two-story
store displays a strong Federal influence. Portions of the house and store were
damaged by fires in 1920 and 1965, respectively. Damage to the house was
contained to the northern third and the repairs resulted in a slight alteration to the
first floor with the removal of the wall partition adjacent to the staircase accessing
the second floor. Damage to the store was not extensive and repairs were made to
the second floor and roof. The five wood frame buildings include a wood shed,
weigh shed, stable, barn, and implement shed. Collectively, the archeological site
includes the subsurface remains of an integrated mill village complete with mill
sites, an engineered river system, and the cellar holes of three houses for mill
workers,  The mill-related resources were introduced during the first half of the
nineteenth century. The integrity of all of the extant buildings remains strong and
their complementary relationship to the natural setting and the archeological
features evoke a sense of late eighteenth century frontier settlement patterns gently
overlaid with a sampling of nineteenth century vernacular architecture.

Sinking Valley lies below and between the ridge tops of Brush Mountain with
its angular V-shaped folds formed by the geologic event which resulted in the Ridge
and Valley region of Pennsylvania. The Little Juniata River marks the wider
northern end leaving the Valley with a triangular shape. This limestone valley is
drained by a subterranean system of streams. These streams appear at intervals at
the bottom of sink holes which may reach a depth of several hundred feet. Near the
north end of the valley, Sinking Run surfaces from a large, deep spring below a
massive stone arch. The Jacob Isett house and store are 500 feet north of this natural
feature known as Arch Spring. From the spring, Sinking Run flows northeast along -
the base of the southwest slope of the easternmost angle of Brush Mountain. The:
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Isett complex is on the floodplain of Sinking Run surrounded by abrupt sixty to
eighty foot slopes on the northwest and southeast and by open fields on the
northeast. The house and store face each other across State Route 1013, which
traverses the valley, exiting through a gap known as the Kettle at the southwest
terminus of the valley.

.. . The Georgian influenced house is the dominant building (25' x 55') of this
historic complex.(Photos 2, 3) The seven bay, two-and-one-half story, side gabled
residence is prominently sited near the northeast end of the complex, opposite the
store. The wood shingled roof is moderately pitched. A pre-1920 photograph
shows original cornice lines emphasized by a wide band of trim with applied
(dentils, but the replacement band is plain. The house is one room deep displaying
that characteristic often referred to in identifying [-Houses. The exterior Georgian
features on the east and north facades include segmented stone lintels, balanced
fenestration, and no sidelights at the entrances. However, the house lacks the
symmetry of the classical Georgian style, due to the positions of the doors at the first
and fifth bays, south to north. One of the two interior stone chimneys is integrally
constructed with the north wall on the inside face, leaving the exterior face without
projection. The other is a freestanding offset left chimney between the second and
third bays. o ’ -

Although the front (east) facade has seven bays, the west (rear) facade has
only four irregularly spaced bays. The exterior doors, located at bays one and five
on the east wall and at each end on the west wall, are recessed toward the interior
face of the building wall. Each door has raised panel wood jambs which extend
from the door frame to the face of the wall and terminate agaiﬁst face trim
surrounding the opening. Windows were 9 lights over 6 originally but were
changed to 6 lights over 6 following the fire in 1920. They have been restored to
their original configuration during the 1990s by the present owner. The window
openings are defined with wood, mortised, tenoned and pegged at the corners. A
double hung sash is set within each opening on the first and second stories. The
edge of the frames adjacent to the window has a beaded edge. The gabled south
facade has a single vertical row of similar size windows centered at the first, second
and attic levels. The north facade has two rows of aligned windows, but the attic
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windows are reduced in size. These two attic windows and the basement windows
contain a single non-operating sash held within the frame by wood stops. Under
the north gable is an artistic oval date stone containing the words, "Jacob and Elenor
Iset 1805". A ghost line remains of a twentieth century hipped-roof porch on the
east facade which extended across the fourth through sixth bays. That porch was
removed during the 1990s. Twentieth century gabled hoods have also been
removed from the door at the east facade's first bay, the basement door on the south
facade, and the door at the north end of the west facade. The exterior presently
reflects the original character of the house and the features which Jacob Isett
incorporated into his home.

There are three 1920s-style replacement exterior doors, two on the east facade
and one on the north end of the west facade. The doors are wood and glass with
two horizontal and two vertical muntins six inches in each direction from the stiles
and rails of the door. Muntins of the transoms are in a pattern-to complement the
doors. A fourth exterior door is different from the replacement doors. It opposes
the door of the east facade's first bay, and is wider, not as high, and made of solid

+ wood with panels. This rear kitchen door is nearest to the summer kitchen, located
eight feet west of the house. The west facade and the south facade have a basement
entrance. Both basement doors are constructed of plain flat vertical planks held
together by two horizontal wood battens on the interior face. Sills are below-grade.

The first floor is one room deep with three rooms across its length. An
off-center hallway and stairs is incorporated into south wall of the parlor on the
north end of the house. This stairway was originally offset from the parlor with a
wall. The wall was not replaced during the repairs after the fire. The kitchen
occupies bays one and two, the dining room occupies three and four, and the large
parlor includes five, six and seven.

The fabric of the parlor has been altered due to the 1920 fire which was
contained in this area. It has a twentieth century stone fireplace, plain wood
window sills, and plastered jambs and walls.(Photo 4) The replacemenit stairway
is located on the south wall and it turns at an intermediate landing. Attempts to
locate informants who can describe the appearance of this room before the fire have
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not been successful. The original room plan possibly included a typical stair hall in
bay five, delineating it from the rooms in bays six and seven. The present
configuration may result in a less formal feel to the parlor but the openness results
in a light airiness which is very inviting,

The parlor adjoins the dining room which is entered through double doors
matching the other replacement doors.(Photo 5) Windows on the east and west
walls of the dining room have replacement sills and plastered jambs. The south wall
of this room includes a wood door with six raised-panels and a six-inch molding
surround. On this same interior wall is a fireplace with a rather plain classical style
surround. The top of the mantel projects six inches. Under its cornice are two
rectangular recessed panels above a horizontal one-inch wide trim board. ' At the
edge it joins a similar trim board which extends from the cornice to the bottom. The
fireplace is flanked by two, floor to ceiling, built-in cupboards.(Photos 5, 6) One has
an arched glass door with twelve rectangular panes, and six irregular panes at the
top separated by the curved ends of the muntins. Under this door, the rounded
edge of the lowest shelf projects slightly, thirty inches above the floor, and under
this is a solid rectangular door with two recessed panels. The other cupboard is
larger with two arched openings, each covered by two half-arch shaped wood
doors. FEach set, when closed, shows a raised cross design created by two
rectangular recessed panels under two fan shaped recessed panels. The trim around
each set of doors consists of applied fluted columns on each side projecting one-half
inch, topped by an arch of one-inch wide trim connecting the columns. Under both
sets of doors is the continuous, projecting rounded edge of the boom shelf, slightly
lower than the same detail of the other cupboard. Two pairs of solid, recessed-panel
square doors and their frames are at the bottom. Both cupbeards have an eight-inch
ceiling cornice and appear to be original features to the house.

The kitchen is the southernmost of the three first floor rooms. It's window
jambs have three recessed panels. The large fireplace on the interior wall shares its
chimney with the fireplace on the adjoining wall in the dining room. This fireplace
has been altered; it is now surfaced with white bricks which are reflective of the
limestone exterior of the house. Beside the fireplace are two identical doors, each
with six raised panels.{Photo 7) One is the entrance to the basement stairway and
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the other is a cupboard door. The south exterior door has eight raised panels and
the molding is plain flat wood.

On the second story, five rooms open from the hall landing of the stair, Two
are above the parlor. One is directly east of the landing. Two are above the dining
room and the southernmost of these two has an opening to a sixth room above the
kitchen. All floors and woodwork are twentieth century but the layout of the rooms - -
appears to be original to the house.

The interior has been compromised by repairs following the 1920 fire. The
fire damaged the north section, and resulted in replacement of all windows except
one, three exterior doors, some interior doors, some moldings, the parlor fireplace,
and the roof. Repairs were done with standard 1920s mill stock. Replacement
windows were 6 lights over 6. One original 9 lights over 6 window and a
photograph taken before the fire reveal the 9 lights over 6 configuration which the ..
present owner has used in the restoration. The kitchen fireplace mantel and
surround are not original; the opening is faced with white bricks.

The west facade's basement door was added at some point by enlarging an
original basement window located between the first and second row of upper story
windows. The rear door was changed from a window to a door opening to access
a no longer extant frame addition constructed in the early 1900s. That addition was
destroyed by fire in 1953. A ghost of the addition's roof is still visible above the
door. Another west facade first story opening was altered into a 3 lights over 3
window, with the original lintel left in place.

The present owner has been in the process of restoring the house since
acquisition in the late 1980s. The work he has undertaken to date includes
repointing, replacement of windows and removal of the front porch and the
bracketed door hoods. All wood trim elements are being repaired and repainted.

The 16' x 20", two-story summer kitchen is located behind the southwest
corner of the house. It is constructed of rough cut irregularly coursed limestone.
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The ridge of the gabled roof is perpendicular to the roof ridge of the house. The
steep pitch of the summer kitchen's original roof, as indicated by its ghost on the
chimney, was decreased to its present moderate pitch. The present roof is made of
manufactured trusses covered with plywood sheathing and modern shingles. It
extends eight feet to the west wall of the house covering the area between the
buildings. Between the house and summer kitchen are new stairs and a landing of
treated wood which provides access from the ground level and between the house
and summer kitchen. The summer kitchen's interior chimney which served a large
fireplace is an integral part of the west wall. A door was added to the north wall to
access a frame addition which was later removed. That door has been removed and
the opening has been closed with stone thus returning the wall to its original
configuration. Another frame addition, also no longer extant, was against the west
wall. It was used as a smokehouse leaving the west wall partially darkened. The
concrete pad of the addition is still in place. The east wall which faces the west wall
of the house has two centered doors, one above the other, separated by a stone
lintel. The lower threshold is 12 inches below grade. There is a 6 lights over 6
window in the south wall, first story, with vertical wood bars mortised into the
frame. At the second floor level, two 4" x 8" openings in the north and south walls -
become wider toward the interior, similar to telescoped ventilation openings in
early stone barn walls. The removal of the various additions has had the result of
returning the summer kitchen to the simple elegance of the building Jacob Isett
constructed.

The two-and-one-half story store was built in 1799, and is located
approximately 150 feet east of the main house.(Photo 8) It fronts on State Route
1013 which passes between the house and this building. Behind the store, about 50 -
feet to the east, is Sinking Run, which powered a three story frame gristmill that
stood beside the store until 1942. The date, 1799, is engraved in the stone sill of the
second floor door in the east elevation of the store. This three bay building is
rectangular in plan, measuring 24' x 40'. It is banked, in a manner typical of
buildings in this region of rolling topography. The land on which the store stands
slopes away from the road in front toward the stream behind allowing for the rear
or west elevation to attain to three stories.(Photo 9) The fan window in the front
gable and an elliptical transom above the double entrance doors clearly suggest an
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As is the case with the house and summer kitchen, the exterior walls of the
store are approximately two feet of limestone held together with lime based mortar.
The roof covering is hand-split wood shakes with six inch exposure. All exterior
components were in good condition before the building was rehabilitated and were
retained. On the west or front elevation, five large windows have segmented lintels,
8 lights over 12, and are wood double-hung type. A twelve-light fan window is
under the apex of the gable. At the entrance is a pair of recessed two feet wide
paneled doors with a five-light elliptical transom under a segmented arched lintel.
The door jambs are paneled.

The side elevations have six 6 lights over 9 windows. A basement window
is located under the two east windows of the south elevation. On the east or rear
elevation, two doors and a window are positioned south of center with their north
edges aligned. The double basement door is a series of plain flat planks held
together with two horizontal wood battens on each interior face. The second story
board and batten doer is recessed, and above the opening is a hoist beam which
projects three feet. The first story 6 lights over 9 window is between the doors
There is a small three pane window under the gable.

The interior floor framing is constructed of 3" x 10" wood joists spanning
from the exterior wall to a wood beam at the center of the building which is
supported by wood posts at third points. The beam and the wide variable width
wood flooring run the long direction of the building. The floor framing is joined
together by mortise and tenon construction. The roof is supported by dimension
[umber wood rafters and wood plank sheathing. The roof system'is secured to the
stone exterior walls via a wood plate bolted to the stone. This roof system was
reconstructed after a fire, ca. 1965, which not only destroyed the roof, but also
burned through the rear third of the second floor. The roof was repaired at the time
of the fire but the floor framing was ignored. The missing portion of the floor was
replaced during the 1988 rehabilitation of the building,

The first floor's interior is divided by one partition. It is located at and
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_ aligned with the wood post at the second bay from the entrance door.(Photo 10) At
the rear wall is a wood stair, with winders starting at the third riser and ending at
the sixth, that parallels the side and rear wall of the building. A similar stair
connects the second floor with the attic. Each is closeted by a plank door and a
plank partition. The straight stair from the basement is closed at the first floor by
a door. The second floor and the basement were originally open spaces.

As stated, fhe'building was rehabilitated in 1988. The exterior was left in its
existing condition except for minor repointing, painting of the wood and removal
of a small brick flue constructed in the 1940s. The interior work was more extensive.
The basement was excavated approximately two feet. A perimeter drain was
installed and a concrete floor was poured. A small bath room and laundry facilities
were added at this level. The first floor partition and stair were retained and
repaired as required. A kitchen was added east of the original partition. The
interior face of the exterior walls was insulated between wood stud partitions

-and covered with drywall. Wood trim was cleaned and reused, with missing pieces
replaced. The wood jambs and sills at the window openings were extended to
compensate for the increased wall thickness. The work was done to provide
insulation for this facility which is heated by electric. Second floor joists were left
exposed. The open second flootr was divided into three bedrooms and a bath.(Photo
11, 12) In the attic additional roof trusses were constructed in place without
disturbing the existing roofing membrane. This work was required to enhance the
existing roof construction, since it was inadequate. The missing original hardware
was replaced with hand forged replications. The interior was painted with colors
matching original paint or complementing them.

The rehabilitation of the store was accomplished by retaining and repairing
original fabric wherever possible. New features were designed with original
features in mind. The original floor plan was retained on the first floor. The once
open second floor has been divided into rooms but that division could be reversed.
The addition of structural supports in the attic space was designed to give added life
to the building. The impact overall does not conflict with the original features and
fabric of the building. From the exterior and on the inside of the first floor the
building fooks as it did when Jacob Isett constructed it.
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The remaining secondary buildings are clustered between the house and
Arch Spring. (Photo 13) The barn is a posted forebay with double outsheds to the
banked rear. The banked feature is a typical ramp to the upper level thrashing floor.
A rectangular stone foundation fifty-feet to the south of the barn identities the
location of the original combination wagon shed with corn crib. An extant interior
wagon shed stands between the barn and the house. East of the wagon shed and
conveniently located next to State Route 1013 is the weigh shed. This is a frame
building resting on stone piers. The scales are intact within. All of these secondary
buildings have vertical board siding and retain a high degree of integrity.

Remnants of the dam which controlled the flow of water from Sinking Spring
Run to the mill race and from the mill through the tail race are extant. The mill
locations are connected by this system. The cellar holes of the worker housing lie
nearby on the east side of Sinking Spring Run.

Ongoing restoration efforts are undoing changes introduced with the
fire-related repairs. This nominated property which contains the Jacob Isett house
and store in concert with its secondary buildings and associated archeological
features reflects early settlement and development patterns in Sinking Valley. The

~ high level of exterior, and sufficient interior, integrity reflect the architecture of the
place and time.
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The Jacob Isett property is significant under Criterion A for its association
with the settlement of the Sinking Valley area of Blair County. Even though some
buildings and features have been lost, the Isett property is the most intact remnant
of an early nineteenth century mill seat in the valley. The complex is also significant
under Criterion C as a locally significant group of rural vernacular architecture. The
house and store building are locally important examples of ca. 1800 stone buildings
influenced by the Georgian and Adam styles. The farm-related outbuildings reflect
local building trends in keeping with the agricultural importance of the valley in
general and specifically with increased activity there during the latter half of the
nineteenth century. The period of significance begins with the 1799 construction
date of the store and ends with ca. 1870 by which time related farm outbuildings
‘were added.

EVENTS LEADING TO THE SETTLEMENT OF SINKING VALLEY

For much of the eighteenth century, permanent consistent settlement in
Pennsylvania extended only as far west as the Blue Mountains on the western edge
of the Great Valley. While frontier forts represented settled pockets within the
western territory, conflicts as to the ownership of land as well as Indian activity and
topography held settlement to that point until the latter half of the century. Many
of these frontier forts provided the foundation for the hierarchy of towns, villages,
and diffused communities that were finally permanently established in those areas.
Each of these settlements eventually established similar support services which
included grist and saw mills, blacksmith shops, and stores.

As Indian conflicts subsided during the 1760s, settlers from Virginia and
Maryland began moving into the southwestern portion of the state while settlers
from Connecticut advanced along the East Branch of the Susquehanna into the
Wyoming Valley. In the closing years of that decade, settlers advanced a third
frontier into the geographic center of the state simultaneously along the Juniata
River and the West Branch of the Susquehanna into the ridge and valley region. Of
the two rivers, settlement was greatest along the Juniata as it was already an
established link in a direct route to settlements in southwestern Pennsylvania.
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The outcome of the French and Indian War (1754-63) ended one set of
problems, those involving the Indians and the French. It inaugurated a new set of
problems, those involving the compatibility of British imperial policy with the way
of life of the North American colonials. Although the two military roads,
Braddock's and Forbes's, made commercial traffic possible across the mountains, the
Proclamation of 1763 banned settlement west of the mountains and forbade Indian
trading except for persons licensed by England. The 1770s involved some
advancing, retreating, and advancing again due to renewed Indian activity in some
areas of the central and western territories. American colonists would have to fight
their war for independence before western exploration and settlement could go
forward in earnest. ‘

Through the summer of 1778 the Indians, directed by British Col. Henry
Hamilton, destroyed Pennsylvania frontier settlements at will. One series of raids.
destroyed farms in Penns Creek, Bald Eagle, and Kishocoquillas Valleys; another
struck the West Branch of the Susquehanna, from Muncy and Williamsport to
Northumberland, sending settlers flying eastward in the "Great Runaway."
Conversely, Gen. Roberdeau was sent into central Pennsylvania to mine lead in
Sinking Valley in 1778. There is every reason to believe that the lead mines of
Sinking Valley wére known to the French as early as 1750. The fact that lead-ore
existed in Sinking Valley was known by the settlers about 1763, and the
consequence was that a number of persons took up their residence there, but
without purchasing lands.

Due to a scarcity of the ore and the immense expense of mining and smelting
it, however, mining was carried on for only a few short months. That activity was
abandoned in 1779 but not before a fort had been erected for the safety of miners
and settlers. At that time, Sinking Valley contained, according to an anonymous
writer, "sixty to seventy families, living in log houses"” on “good plantations.” Some
'were extremely agreeable on account of their situation, but possessed,
notwithstanding, very few inducements to an inhabitant of the more settled parts
to sojourn long among them on account of their proximity to the Indians. So little
provision was made against the attack of hostile tribes that, instead of forming
societies whereby defense might early be obtained, the settlers dwelt, in general,
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remote from one another, few plantations being within less than two or three miles
distance of their nearest neighbor, so that when any disagreement took place, the
greater number were left exposed to the enemy before it was practicable to spread
the alarm of their approach."

Although there is no evidence of permanent Indian settlement in the Valley,
there were frequent raids on the settlers from bands across the mountains. Many
legends exist telling of narrow escapes from Indians and of remarkable deeds of
bravery performed by the early frontier people. Many families fled the Valley after
the killing of two settlers in 1781. This marked the last such event by Indians in the
Valley and the exodus was reversed by 1783 when many settlers returned to their
~homes bringing new families with them. Each permanent settler received a deed -
for his farm from the State of Pennsylvania, which had purchased the rights of the -
heirs of William Penn after the Revolutionary War. There were 164 freeholders in
the original township of Tyrone in 1787 and by 1797, the population of Sinking
Valley stood at approximately five hundred. That number doubled by 1880 when
the total population of the Valley stood at 1004.

SIGNIFICANCE IN EXPLORATION/ SETTLEMENT

William Penn believed that settlers should live in agricultural villages set in
the midst of small, neatly laid-out townships. He hoped that farmers and others
thus would encourage and aid one another and bring up their children in a civilized
manner. Ordered space would mean orderly and happy lives. Ordered settlement
would progress across the state. However, Penn, his agents, and eventually his sons
also directly contributed to the settlement of Pennsylvania beyond contiguously
occupied areas by the way in which they laid out their own private lands. They laid
out colonial "manors," which were ostensibly for conserving woodland but were
actually reserves for later speculation. -Over seventy of these manors, each
consisting of a reservation of 10,000 acres in every 100,000 and "which shall lie in
one place," were created in colonial times. Tyrone Township and, thereby, Sinking
Valley, fell within one of these reserves.
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Although the Quakers and most of those who followed had lived in
agricultural villages in Europe, they wanted to avoid the constraints of living in
close proximity and so sought a different territorial structure. Farmers were
inclined to settle at some distance from one another in farmsteads set in the midst
of contiguous fields. Other community institutions such as meetinghouses, schools,
and business and manufacturing operations were also dispersed in an apparently
haphazard fashion, Rural communities were complex, open-country neighborhoods
without certain edges or centers. Neither Penn nor subsequent interpreters
appreciated that the changes taking place in the seventeenth century in rural.
western Europe were being given form in early Pennsylvania. They failed to
recognize adequately the strong trend in Europe toward operation of farms by thé
‘heads of nuclear families and the individualization of decision-making.

Agricultural villages did not materialize and farmsteads were dispersed.
Indiscriminate settlement after 1700 led to irregular holdings, and farms definitely
became the decision-making units as the few feudal ties were loosened. Farmsteads
were frequently set far back from roads, most often adjacent to springs or above
streams. Particularly after 1700, the settlers' perception of natural conditions rather
than an abstract survey system dictated form.

Atleast five explanations have been offered for the pattern of dispersed rural
settlement and individual farms which occurred in Europe and America: ethnic
traditions, European practices of agricultural land use, the form of the land, the
cheap land in America, and less need for defense. Analysis of each argument does
not sufficiently explain the preference for living on individual farms. In fact, the rise
of individualism over peasant values in western Europe appears to have been the
fundamental force leading to dispersion. In deciding whether to move,
Pennsylvanians chiefly considered which course would improve their material
position or at least prevent a decline in status. The most prosperous and the very
poorest were the least likely to try new situations. Those willing to travel to the
frontier probably resembled their restless fathers and grandfathers who had come
from the middle stratum of western European life.

Although'the French and Indian War slowed movements to the west,



OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

NPS Form 10-900-a
e o

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Isett, Jacob, House and Store

8 5 Tyrone Township, Blair County, Pennsylvania

Section number Page

especially between 1754 and 1756, that trend was reversed after hostilities ended in
1758. The middle 1780s and early 1790s seem to have been periods of high mobility.

Once a place of note, Sinking Valley is rich in Colonial History fully
expressing the dispersed, family-oriented, individualistic pattern enacted on the
landscape as Penn’s design was being rejected. The earliest accounts of any

~permanent settlers in Sinking Valley bears the date of 176(. Noted pioneer families
in Sinking Valley included the Rollers, Burkets, Crawfords, Flecks, and Morrows,
among others. There are several farms which date to the Indian purchase of 1754,
when the area was known as Penn'a Manor and was included in the confines of
Cumberland county. Two striking examples of this are the James B. Crawford and
John Burket farms.

The first James Crawford, a native of Ireland, came from Adams county
before the French and Indian Wars and .built a small log cabin on the site of the
present Crawford homestead in Sinking Valley. When raids resumed following the
abandonment of Fort Roberdeau in 1779, Crawford moved back to Adams county
until it was safe to return. Crawford returned to his land with his wife and infant
son, James Crawford, Jr., in 1783. He erected a small stone fort to the rear of the
present homestead, but as far as is known, never had to use the fort against Indian
raids.

The original part of the house as it stands today was a four-room log
structure with two rooms on the first floor and two on the second. An interesting
feature on the second floor is that the entire wooden wall partition, measuring 8' x
12!, is hung on hinges and may be swung upward and fastened to the ceiling. This
was done when James Crawford, Sr. used the house as an inn for stage coach
travelers. The room was used for dancing and when the partition was let down it
provided sleeping accommodations for travelers. Traces of the old stage coach road
may be seen on the hill east of the present homestead.

Another historic farm in Sinking Valley is the former Jacob Roller farm. '
Immigrating from Wurtemburg, Germany, Jacob Roller, Sr. settled in Sinking Valley
during the Revolutionary War on Tract 26 of Penn's Manor. Roller, it appears, was
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an "active and energetic frontier-man, bold, fearless, and daring;" and the common
belief was that his unerring rifle was known to the Indians and that they marked
him out for a victim. Several small roving bands were in the habit of coming down
into the Valley after the mines were abandoned. Jacob, Sr. erected a fort on the
present farm to give protection for his neighbors during Indian raids. Jacob, Jr. and
a neighbor were killed by those Indians while working in nearby fields during the
autumn of 1781, The present homestead was begun in 1835 by Peter Burket, a :-+.:-
native of York County, who had purchased the land from Jacob Roller, Sr. in 1802.

Summary History of the Isett Property

Jacob Isett came to Sinking Valley with the returning wave after hostilities
with the Indians had ceased. By this time, the center of the Valley had been settled
from north to south, primarily by the Crawfords and Flecks. Isett found a.
self-contained alcove sheltered from the rest of the Valley but strategically located
for easy access at the “Y" formed by the primary and secondary access roads at the
northeast end of the Valley.

" Born in Bucks County in 1760, Jacob Tsett matured with the Revolutionary
War happening around him. It occurred between his fifteenth and twenty-third
years. The battles of Brandywine and Germantown and the encampment at Valley
Forge occurred near the borders of Bucks County and General Washington crossed
the Delaware River where it flows by the same county. There is no record of Isett
participating in the war effort. He moved west at the close of the Revolution in 1783
and before the establishment of a national government in 1789. '

Isett's ancestors first came to North America from the Palatinate in southern
Germany in 1732 together with others of their nationality who were disheartened
by religious dissension and political upheaval. They settled in Bucks County in
southeastern Pennsylvania. Many were drawn to Pennsylvania by land agents of
the heirs of William Penn who offered large tracts of Penn land-holdings for sale.
Jacob Isett cobbled shoes as he migrated west, arriving in Sinking Valley in 1785.
Isett first lived near deserted Fort Roberdeau, or Lead-Mine Fort, where he practiced
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his trade, taking wheat in lieu of money. This he reportedly stored in one of the

* buildings of the old fort until the failure of a wheat crop caused the price to
advance. Isett used the money from the sale of his wheat to purchase in 1787 the
land on which the nominated property presently stands. Plot #33 in the general
plan of the Proprietaries Manor of Sinking Valley contained a source of water power
presently known as Arch Spring which the residents of the valley graVItated to for
their common needs.

Isett quickly established a residential and commercial complex near the
spring by constructing a house, ca. 1788; a saw mill, ca. 1791; a limited capacity grist
mill, ca. 1792; and a store, - 1799. That first mill was replaced ca. 1800 with a stone
mill approximately fifty feet north of the first mill site. Due to defective walls the
new mill was taken down in 1824 and the third, and final, mill was erected on the
same site. It was a frame, three story building, forty-five by fifty feet. It was
remodeled and supplied with modern machinery in 1869, operating until 1920. It
was dismantled in 1942, Only the store remains from Isett's initial eighteenth
century building stock.

By alI accourtts, ]acob Isett accomphshed the remarkable feat of conductmg
resources against the limitations of his time and place and in the years of panic in
1816 and 1837, through the War of 1812 and the Mexican War, as well as in more
expansive years, he provided well for his family, leaving a substantial estate when
he died in 1852 at the age of 92. At the time his son Samuel assumed ownership,
there were a few mechanic shops and enough houses to give Arch Spring Mills the
appearance of a prosperous, if small, hamlet. About 1868 the Isett complex at Arch
Spring passed to the ownership of John A. and Isaac Crawford, who also carried on
merchandising and farming. The spring and caves became favorite places of resort
for tourists and pleasure-seekers.

Frank Hagerty took over his father-in-law's (John A. Crawford) farm and all
that was on it in 1895, Hagerty operated the mill until 1920. Robert Means acquired
the property from the Hagerty's and operated a tea room out of the store building.
[t was Means who repaired and remodeled the house after the fire in 1920. Means



